
 

 

 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday 25 February 2021 at 6.30 pm 
Virtual Meeting - Online 

 
 

 

Members:  Councillor Scholes (Chairman), Councillors Mrs Thomas (Vice-Chairman), Funnell, 
Dr Hall, Lewis, Rands, Williams and Pope 

Quorum:  3 Members (to include either the Leader or Deputy Leader) 

 
 

1   Apologies for Absence 
To receive any apologies for absence. 

(Pages 5 - 6) 

2   Declarations of Interest: 
To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on 
the agenda. For any advice on declarations of interest, please 
contact the Monitoring Officer. 

(Pages 7 - 8) 

3   Notification of Visiting Members wishing to speak (in 
accordance with Council Procedure Rule 18): 

Members should indicate which item(s) they wish to speak 
on and the nature of their concern/question/request for 
clarification. 

(Pages 9 - 10) 

4   Minutes of the Meeting dated 19 January 2021 
To approve the minutes of the previous meeting as a correct 
record.  The only issue relating to the minutes that can be 
discussed is their accuracy. 

(Pages 11 - 12) 

5   New Polling Station in Sherwood Ward (Knights' Wood) 
To consider and provide a recommendation on the proposals set 
out in the attached report. 

(Pages 13 - 42) 

6   Urgent Business 
To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are 
urgent, for the reasons to be stated, in accordance with Section 
100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

(Pages 43 - 44) 

Public Document Pack

Page 1



 
 

 

7   Date of Next Meeting 
The next meeting is scheduled for Tuesday 13 April 2021 at 
6:30pm. 

(Pages 45 - 46) 

 

 
 
Caroline Britt Town Hall 
Democratic Services Officer ROYAL TUNBRIDGE WELLS 
Tel:      (01892) 554253 Kent   TN1 1RS 
Email:  Caroline.britt@tunbridgewells.gov.uk  
 

 

mod.gov app – go paperless 
 

Easily download, annotate and keep all committee paperwork on your 
mobile device using the mod.gov app – all for free!. 
 

Visit   www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp   for details.  

Page 2

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp
http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/modgovapp


 
 

 
All visitors wishing to attend a public meeting at the Town Hall between the hours of 9.00am 
and 5.00pm should report to reception via the side entrance in Monson Way.  After 5pm, 
access will be via the front door on the corner of Crescent Road and Mount Pleasant Road, 
except for disabled access which will continue by use of an 'out of hours' button at the entrance 
in Monson Way 
 
Notes on Procedure 
 
(1)  A list of background papers appears at the end of each report, where appropriate, 

pursuant to the Local Government Act 1972, section 100D(i). 
 
(2) Members seeking factual information about agenda items are requested to contact the 

appropriate Service Manager prior to the meeting. 
 
(3) Members of the public and other stakeholders are required to register with the Democratic 

Services Officer if they wish to speak on an agenda item at a meeting.  Places are limited 
to a maximum of four speakers per item.  The deadline for registering to speak is 4.00 pm 
the last working day before the meeting.  Each speaker will be given a maximum of 3 
minutes to address the Committee. 

 
(4) All meetings are open to the public except where confidential or exempt information is 

being discussed. The agenda will identify whether a meeting or part of a meeting is not 
open to the public. Meeting rooms have a maximum public capacity as follows: 

 Council Chamber: 100, Committee Room A: 20, Committee Room B: 10. 
 
(5) Please note that the public proceedings of this meeting will be recorded and made 

available for playback on the Tunbridge Wells Borough Council website. Any other third 
party may also record or film meetings, unless exempt or confidential information is being 
considered, but are requested as a courtesy to others to give notice of this to the 
Democratic Services Officer before the meeting. The Council is not liable for any third 
party recordings. 

 
Further details are available on the website (www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk) or from 
Democratic Services. 

 

If you require this information in another format 
please contact us, call 01892 526121 or email 

committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk 
 
Accessibility into and within the Town Hall – There is a wheelchair accessible lift 
by the main staircase, giving access to the first floor where the committee rooms are 
situated. There are a few steps leading to the Council Chamber itself but there is a 
platform chairlift in the foyer. 
 
Hearing Loop System – The Council Chamber and Committee Rooms A and B 
have been equipped with hearing induction loop systems. The Council Chamber also 
has a fully equipped audio-visual system. 

Page 3

http://www.tunbridgewells.gov.uk/
mailto:committee@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

General Purposes 
Committee 

25 February 2021 

 

Apologies for Absence 
 

Procedural Item: 
 

To receive any apologies for absence. 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



This page is intentionally left blank



 

General Purposes 
Committee 

25 February 2021 

 

Declarations of Interest 
 

Procedural Item: 
 

To receive any declarations of interest by members in items on the agenda. For any 
advice on declarations of interest; please contact the Monitoring Officer before the 
meeting. 

 

 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

General Purposes 
Committee 

25 February 2021 

 

Notification of Visiting Members wishing to 
speak 

 

Procedural Item: 
 

To note any members of the Council wishing to speak, of which due notice has been 
given in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 18, and which items they wish to 
speak on. 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 3



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
 

GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE 
 

Tuesday, 19 January 2021 
 

Present: Councillor James Scholes (Chairman) 
Councillors Funnell, Dr Hall, Lewis, Rands, Williams and Pope 

 
Officers in Attendance: Jane Clarke (Head of Policy and Governance), Mathew Jefferys 
(Democratic Services and Elections Manager) and Caroline Britt (Democratic Services 
Officer) 
 
Other Members in Attendance: Councillors  
 
APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 
GP1/20 
 

There were no apologies.  Councillor Mrs Thomas was not present. 
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST: 
 
GP2/20 
 

There were no disclosable pecuniary or other significant interests declared at 
the meeting. 
 

NOTIFICATION OF VISITING MEMBERS WISHING TO SPEAK (IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
COUNCIL PROCEDURE RULE 18): 
 
GP3/20 
 

There were no visiting Members who had registered  as wishing to speak. 
 

MINUTES OF THE MEETING DATED 10 DECEMBER 2019 
 
GP4/20 
 

Members reviewed the minutes.  Councillor Dr Hall gave her apologies for not 
attending the meeting.  No amendments were proposed. 
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting dated 10 December 2019 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 
 

CONSULTATION ON A NEW POLLING STATION IN SHERWOOD WARD (KNIGHTS' 
WOOD) 
 
GP5/20 
 

Mathew Jefferys, Democratic and Electoral Services Manager presented a 
report that proposed a consultation on the setting up of a new polling station 
in the Sherwood Ward. 
 
Discussion and responses to Members questions included the following: 
 

- The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 required that 
the Council undertake a review of its polling districts and places every 
5 years. 

- The last full review went to Full Council on 18 December 2019. 
- A decision was taken at the meeting to investigate the provision for an 

additional polling station in the Sherwood Ward to accommodate the 
increased housing growth in the area. 

- No other venues aside from the Kent Skinners’ Primary School were 
formally considered as part of the initial review.  Ward Members were 
consulted but no other venues were put forward. 

- Following a site visit on 16 October 2020 the school was deemed 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



2 

 
 

appropriate as a polling station.   
- The Kent Skinners’ Primary School had confirmed they were content 

for the school to be used as a polling station. 
- The residents of Knights Wood would be able to use the new 

proposed polling station, rather than travel to the TN2 Community 
Centre which was the only other polling station in the Sherwood North 
polling district.     

- Approximately 9 streets, 527 properties, 739 electors would benefit 
from the new polling station. 

- The proposed consultation would be undertaken for a period of 4 
weeks.  A full report would then be presented at the next General 
Purposes Committee on 25 February 2021. 

- The consultation, if approved, would start on 20 January 2021 and 
finish on 16 February 2021.     

- Details of the consultation would be disseminated to Ward Members 
and the local MP.  In addition letters would be sent to residents.  
Information would also be included on the TWBC website and via 
social media.   

- It was noted that the number of houses in the area continued to 
increase and therefore over time, more residents would benefit from 
the new proposed polling station.    

 
RESOLVED –  

1. That a consultation be undertaken on the setting up of a new polling 
station in the Sherwood Ward.   

2. That the list of consultees as set out in Appendix A be agreed; and 
3. That the polling station suitability and equalities consideration, as set 

out in Appendix B be noted.   
 

URGENT BUSINESS 
 
GP6/20 
 

There was no urgent business. 
 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING 
 
GP7/20 
 

The next meeting was scheduled to take place on Thursday 25 February 
2021 at 6:30pm. 
 

 
 NOTE: The meeting concluded at 6.55 pm. 
 

Page 12

Agenda Item 4



 

Page  

1 of 6 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

New Polling Station in Sherwood Ward (Knights' Wood) 

 

New Polling Station in Sherwood Ward 

(Knights' Wood)  

For General Purposes Committee 25 February 2021 

 

Summary 

Lead Committee: General Purposes 

Lead Director: William Benson, Returning Officer/ERO 

Head of Service: Jane Clarke, Head of Policy and Governance 

Report Author: Mathew Jefferys, Democratic and Electoral Services Manager 

Classification: Public document (non-exempt) 

Wards Affected: Sherwood 

Approval Timetable Date 

General Purposes Committee 19 January 2021 

Consultation 4 weeks from 20 January to 16 February 

General Purposes Committee 25 February 2021 

Recommendations 

1. That the General Purposes Committee notes the result of the public consultation at 

appendices A-B.  

2. That the General Purposes Committee agrees to set up a new polling district in the 

Sherwood ward called CC. 

3. That the General Purposes Committee agrees to establish a new polling place and 

polling station at The Skinners' Kent Primary School, The Avenue, Knights Wood, 

Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN2 3GS.  

4. That the General Purposes Committee requests the Electoral Registration Officer 

(ERO) to make amendments to the Register of Electors as necessary. 

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



 

Page  

2 of 6 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

New Polling Station in Sherwood Ward (Knights' Wood) 

 

1. Introduction and Background 

1.1 The Electoral Registration and Administration Act 2013 requires the Council to carry 

out a review of the Borough’s polling districts and polling places every five years. The 

last full review was completed in December 2019. In practice, however, we monitor 

this more regularly and have, when necessary, made arrangements for alternative 

polling places/stations with the agreement of the Council.  

 

1.2  The last full review went to Full Council on 18 December 2019 and the decision was 

taken to investigate the provision of an additional polling station in the Sherwood ward, 

this was to accommodate increased housing growth in the area. 

 

1.3 At its meeting on 19th January 2021, the General Purposes Committee agreed to 

launch a public consultation, with key stakeholders directly invited to respond, on 

establishing a new polling district and polling place for the Sherwood Ward. 

2. Polling Arrangements 

2.1 The Borough area is divided into ‘polling districts’ and one or more polling districts can 

make up a ward (or division for County). The same polling districts are used for each 

type of election. 

 

2.2 A ‘polling place’ is a geographical area which (usually but not always) holds the 

‘polling station’ on it. It must be within the polling district unless special circumstances 

make it necessary to designate it outside of the district. Each polling place should be 

small enough to indicate to electors how they will be able to reach their polling station. 

If no polling place is designated then the whole polling district is taken to be the polling 

place. 

 

2.3 A ‘polling station’ is the actual building/room where the process of voting takes place 

and must be located within the polling place designated for the particular polling 

district. The suitability of polling stations need to be assessed for their accessibility 

and facilities for voters, in particular those with a disability or who have access 

difficulties. 

 

Page 14

Agenda Item 5



 

Page  

3 of 6 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

New Polling Station in Sherwood Ward (Knights' Wood) 

 

3. Consultation on Polling Arrangements 

3.1 Following the General Purposes Committee meeting on 19th January 2021, a four-

week public consultation was launched to propose setting up a new polling district, 

and suggesting a new polling place at the Kent Skinners Primary School. 

 

3.2 Residents who would be directly affected by the proposals were contacted by letter, 

inviting them to submit a response, and other key stakeholders were contacted via 

email. 

 

3.3. The responses to the consultation are attached at appendix A, with the response from 

the Returning Officer included. The responses are overwhelmingly in favour of 

establishing a new polling station for the Knights Wood estate, and for using the 

school as the polling station. 

 

3.4 There were some representations against the proposals however, which raised the 

following issues: 

 

• Using a school will further disrupt children’s education. 

• Not enough parking. 

• Concern regarding the amount of traffic to the site. 

• Concern that the access road is only one way in and one way out. 

 

3.5 The Council has been advised by the school that it would not need to close on polling 

days, and so education should not be disrupted by elections. The site has been 

assessed for parking, which is sufficient, in particular because many electors chose to 

walk or cycle to their station, and this station is close enough for electors to do this. It 

is unlikely that there will be traffic issues, as the only roads allocated to this polling 

station are on the Knights Wood estate. 

4. Options Considered 

4.1 There were no alternative sites suggested as part of the consultation, and so the 

Committee can only consider two options: 

 

1. Keep the current ward, polling district and polling station arrangements. 

 

This would go against the Full Council decision to provide a new polling station 

in the Sherwood ward, to accommodate increased housing growth in the area. 

It would also mean that residents of the Knights Wood area would need to 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



 

Page  

4 of 6 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

New Polling Station in Sherwood Ward (Knights' Wood) 

 

continue travelling up to two miles to vote at the TN2 Community Centre and 

drive past Skinners’ Kent Primary School. 

 

 

2. Establish a new polling place and station at Kent Skinners Primary School. 

 

This would be in-keeping with the Full Council decision, and is the only site 

that has been suggested through public consultation. 

5.  Preferred Option and Reason 

5.1 The preferred option is option 2, to establish a new polling place and station at Kent 
Skinners Primary School, and to allocate the streets and houses listed in appendix F 
to that polling place. 

 
 
5.2 TN2 Community Centre is currently the polling station for the Sherwood North 
 polling district in the Sherwood ward. The new polling district will enable residents to 
 vote locally at Skinners’ Kent Primary School situated on the Knightswood area, which 
 is a 5 to 10 minute walk away.  

 

5.3 The residents in this area currently have to travel 2 miles to vote at TN2  
 Community Centre and drive past Skinners’ Kent Primary School, as access to  
 TN2 Community Centre is only via Longfield Road. 

 

5.4  The new polling district will need to be agreed by February enabling us to re-
 publish the Register, to enable residents to vote at Skinners’ Kent Primary  School for 
 the Kent County Council, Kent Police and Crime Commissioner, Borough elections on 
 6 May 2021.  
 
  

6.    Appendices and Background Documents 

Appendices: 

• Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities considerations 

• Appendix B: Consultation Methodology 

• Appendix C: Consultation responses 

• Appendix D: List of streets, properties, and electors 

Page 16

Agenda Item 5



 

Page  

5 of 6 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

New Polling Station in Sherwood Ward (Knights' Wood) 

 

6. Cross Cutting Issues 

A. Legal (including the Human Rights Act) 

The Representation of People Act 1983, section 18C(2) (“the Act”) places a duty on the 
council of a district in England to carry out a review of each polling district and polling place in 
its area at least every five years.  (The 1983 Act as substituted by the Electoral Registration 
and Administration Act 2013, section 17).  
 
The council is under an ongoing duty to keep the polling districts and polling places in an 

area under review. Under section 18C(3) of the Act, a council may carry out a review of some 

or all of the polling districts or polling places in its area outside of the compulsory review 

periods as set out under section 18(2) of the Act.  Therefore, a review may be undertaken at 

a time that the Council considers appropriate.   

The Council must publish notice of the holding of a review (in the prescribed manner) and 
seek representations from appropriate groups and electors within the ward.  The matters 
detailed in schedule A1 of the Act should be complied with and in accordance with the 
Electoral Commission’s guidance. This includes (a) meeting the reasonable requirements of 
the electors in the ward or any body of those electors; and (b) take sufficient account of the 
accessibility to disabled persons of polling stations within a designated polling place.   The 
report and schedules A and B address the relevant implications and the Council’s obligation 
under the Human Rights Act 1998.  
 
 
Patricia Narebor 
Head of Mid Kent Legal Partnership  
 

B. Finance and Other Resources 

The final decision report will need to lay out the financial implications of creating an additional 

polling station and explain the need for a very local station by the population demographic of 

Knights Wood, with similar consideration for the increase in the numbers of postal votes. 

Jane Fineman, Head of Finance, Procurement & Parking, 11 January 2021. 

C. Staffing 

Staff are appointed at the start of each new election and additional staff will need to be 

employed for any new Polling station. 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



 

Page  

6 of 6 
Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 

New Polling Station in Sherwood Ward (Knights' Wood) 

 

Mathew Jefferys, Democratic and Electoral services Manager, 6 January 2021. 

D. Risk Management 

There are no significant implications as a result of this decision. 

Mathew Jefferys, Democratic and Electoral services Manager, 6 January 2021. 

E. Environment and Sustainability 

There are no significant implications as a result of this decision.  

Mathew Jefferys, Democratic and Electoral services Manager, 6 January 2021 

F. Community Safety 

There are no significant implications as a result of this decision. 

Mathew Jefferys, Democratic and Electoral services Manager, 6 January 2021 

G. Equalities 

There are no obvious implications as a result of this decision. Equalities considerations are 

noted at Appendix B.  

Mathew Jefferys, Democratic and Electoral services Manager, 6 January 2021 

H. Data Protection 

There are no significant implications as a result of this decision. 

Mathew Jefferys, Democratic and Electoral services Manager, 6 January 2021 

I. Health and Safety 

There are no significant implications as a result of this decision. 

Mathew Jefferys, Democratic and Electoral services Manager, 6 January 2021 

J. Health and Wellbeing 

There are no significant implications as a result of this decision. 

Mathew Jefferys, Democratic and Electoral services Manager, 6 January 2021 

Page 18

Agenda Item 5



 

Page  

1 of 12 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

 

 

Appendix A: Polling station 

suitability and equalities 

consideration  
 

Electoral Registration Officer 

1.1 Where a local authority makes any alterations to the polling districts within its area, the 
ERO must amend the register of electors accordingly – either on a notice of alteration or by 
publishing a revised register. The changes to the register take effect on the date that the 
ERO publishes a separate notice stating that the alterations have been made, which should 
be done to coincide with the publication of a notice of alteration/publication of a revised 
register. 

1.2 Local authorities must also comply with the following access requirements. As part of 
the review, they must: 

• seek to ensure that all electors in a constituency in the local authority area have such 
reasonable facilities for voting as are practicable in the circumstances. 

• seek to ensure that so far as is reasonable and practicable every polling place for which 
it is responsible is accessible to electors who are disabled. 

1.3 The council must have regard to the accessibility to disabled persons of potential polling 
stations in any place which it is considering designating as a polling place or the designation 
of which as a polling place it is reviewing.  

Considering accessibility issues 

1.4 Local authorities have a duty to review the accessibility of all polling places to disabled 
voters and ensure that every polling place, and prospective polling place, for which it is 
responsible is accessible to disabled voters ‘so far as is reasonable and practicable’. 

1.5 According to the Equalities and Human Rights Commission the duty to make 
reasonable adjustments comprises three requirements. For service providers and those 
exercising public functions, these requirements are: 

Page 19

Appendix A



 

Page  

2 of 12 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

Date of publication – 17 February 2021 
Revision: 7 

 

• Where a provision, criterion or practice puts disabled people at a substantial 
disadvantage compared with those who are not disabled, to take reasonable steps to 
avoid that disadvantage. 

• Where a physical feature puts disabled people at a substantial disadvantage compared 
with people who are not disabled to avoid that disadvantage or adopt a reasonable 
alternative method of providing the service or exercising the function. 

• Where not providing an auxiliary aid puts disabled people at a substantial disadvantage 
compared with people who are not disabled, to provide that auxiliary aid. 

1.6 In the Scope 2010 report ‘Polls Apart 2010: Opening elections to disabled people’ it was 
made clear that access is still a barrier to some disabled people who want to cast their vote 
in person. 

1.7 Below, are some of the main physical access issues identified by SCOPE, which should 
be considered as part of a review: 

• polling places and stations with steps into the entrance, or otherwise inaccessible 

• narrow doorways and corridors 

• lack of space within the polling place that did not enable motorised wheelchair 
manoeuvrability.  

• lack of space and secrecy for the elector and their companion to discuss the elector’s 
choice of vote.   

• lack of low-level polling booths or booths/tables that did not provide disabled voters with 
confidence that they could cast their vote in secrecy as they were positioned close to 
the polling station staff. 

• a lack of chairs to enable people to rest. 

• a lack of a clear display of guidance or aids (such as tactile voting devices) to enable 
people to feel confident about the process.  

• inadequate lighting  

1.8 These factors, and accessibility issues more generally, will also need to be considered 
by the Returning Officer as part of their training for polling station staff. 

1.9 In addition to writing to those groups or individuals the local authority has identified as 
having expertise in access issues, the authority should also engage any internal disability 
access group and/or disability officer as part of the review.  

  

Page 20

Appendix A



 

Page  

3 of 12 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

Date of publication – 17 February 2021 
Revision: 7 

 

Current polling place details 

Polling place identifier CC 

Polling place name Knights Wood 

Polling place address Skinners’ Kent Primary School 
The Avenue 
Knights Wood 
Tunbridge Wells 
Kent 
TN2 3GS 

Number of electors 739 

Building availability for future 
elections/referendums 

Yes 

Polling place review 

Check Yes or no Comment 

Are there any suitable 
transport links? 

Yes Although residents in the 
area are already only a short 
distance away from the 
polling place 

Are there any access issues 
regarding main/busy roads, 
railways, rivers, etc.? 

No Located off the industrial 
estate, however the area 
itself is not busy 

Is the polling place capable 
of accommodating more 
than one polling station 
together with the necessary 
staff and equipment? If so, 
could it accommodate all 
allocated voters going in and 
out of the polling stations, 
even where there is a high 
turnout? 

Yes   

Is the building readily 
available in the event of any 
unscheduled elections? 

Yes  

Is there any possibility that 
the building may be 
demolished as part of a new 
development? 

No Recently built, no scheduled 
large development 

Page 21

Appendix A



 

Page  

4 of 12 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

Date of publication – 17 February 2021 
Revision: 7 

 

External areas access and facilities 

Check Yes or no 

Are there good public transport links to the 
polling place? 

Yes 

Is the approach to the building safe and free 
from obstructions and does it have a 
dropped kerb? 

Yes 

Is the building clearly identifiable? Yes 

Is additional signage required between 
street and entrance? 

No 

Is there the facility to put up the required 
signage for polling day? 

Yes 

Are there parking facilities for disabled 
people? 

Yes 

Are there parking facilities for polling staff? Yes 

Does the approach to the building have 
external lighting? 

Yes 

Does the building have level access? Yes 

Has a purpose-built ramp been installed? Yes 

If so, does it have a handrail? Yes 

Does the ramp have a gentle slope? Yes 

Does the building require a temporary ramp 
or is there an alternative disabled access? 

No 

Is the entrance door wide enough for a 
disabled person using a motorised 
wheelchair? 

Yes 

Are the doors light enough for frail/elderly 
voters to open? 

Yes 

Can the ‘Guidance for voters’ notice be 
clearly displayed outside the premises, as 
required by the election rules? 

Yes 

Are there any external security concerns? No 

Can tellers be accommodated outside the 
building? 

Yes 

 

  

Page 22

Appendix A



 

Page  

5 of 12 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

Date of publication – 17 February 2021 
Revision: 7 

 

External plan 

Show external layout, street name(s), car parking (including disabled car parking), ramps, 

steps, lighting, appropriate places for signage, etc. 

The image above shows a large car park on the left of school which will be able to 

accommodate electors even during busy times.  

The image above shows the main entrance to the polling station with access into the building 
via stairs and a ramp. Disabled parking is located on the right of the picture and directly next 
to the hall being used for the polling station. 

Page 23

Appendix A



 

Page  

6 of 12 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

Date of publication – 17 February 2021 
Revision: 7 

 

The image located at the front of the school shows adequate lights along with plenty of space 
for signage to be put up so that the school can be clearly identified as a polling station. 

Internal areas access and facilities 

Check Yes or no 

Are all doors easy to open (including by 
wheelchair users) or do they need to be 
permanently locked back? 

Yes 

Are there any internal steps or 
obstructions/hazards? 

No 

Are any doormats level with the floor? Yes 

Is the floor covering non-slip (including in 
wet weather)? 

No 

Are there any corridors that may cause 
access problems? 

No 

Is there adequate lighting in the corridors? Yes 

Are there toilet facilities? Yes 

Is there a kitchen that staff can use? Yes 

Is the area adequately lit for day and night-
time? 

Yes 

Is there adequate space for signage? Yes 

How many polling stations can the building 
accommodate? 

One 

Does the building have a telephone 
available (land line) in the event of mobile 
network problems? 

Yes 

Page 24

Appendix A



 

Page  

7 of 12 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

Date of publication – 17 February 2021 
Revision: 7 

 

Internal access leading to polling 

station(s) 

Show internal areas of the building, excluding the actual polling station where voting will take 
place, including corridors that link to the polling station, kitchen and toilets, and highlight any 
possible signage requirements and potential hazards. Also indicate door swing direction and 

ease of opening, any areas of poor lighting, and any areas of uneven floor, etc. 

 

Page 25

Appendix A



 

Page  

8 of 12 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

Date of publication – 17 February 2021 
Revision: 7 

 

 
The following images show the main entrance to the polling station. Large power assisted 
double doors into the main reception. Double doors leading into the main hall used being 

used for the polling station and a unisex, disabled toilet located in the reception area. 

 

As previously mentioned, the doors in reception lead to the main hall where the polling 
station is located. Kitchen facilities are available for members of staff, only a short walk from 
reception and the polling station.  

The polling station(s) 

Check Yes or no 

Is there sufficient space to accommodate 
and manage the flow of a high volume of 
electors in the case of a high turnout of 
electors? 

Yes 

If multiple polling stations need to be 
provided, are there other rooms available, or 
can the space be clearly divided to provide 
adequate room for more than one polling 
station? 

Yes 

Is there sufficient space inside the polling Yes 

Page 26

Appendix A



 

Page  

9 of 12 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

Date of publication – 17 February 2021 
Revision: 7 

 

station to comfortably accommodate staff, 
voters, polling agents and observers? 

Could ballot booths be positioned in a way 
that would preserve the secrecy of the 
ballot, even where there may be a high 
volume of electors? 

Yes 

Is there adequate lighting for day and night-
time? 

Yes 

Is there suitable furniture (tables and chairs) 
available for all types of election for polling 
staff and for those voters who may need to 
rest? 

Yes 

Could motorised wheelchairs be 
accommodated? 

Yes 

Can the official notices be clearly displayed, 
including the large-print version of the ballot 
paper(s)? 

Yes 

Internal –The polling station 

Identify the size and shape of the area available for polling. Include the position of the 
door(s), any windows and how the furniture and equipment should be laid out to 
accommodate all those entitled to be inside the polling station, considering access 
requirements for all voters, including those in wheelchairs, and demonstrating how the space 
should be used to ensure the most efficient flow of voters and the effective administration of 
the voting process. 

 

Page 27

Appendix A



 

Page  

10 of 12 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

Date of publication – 17 February 2021 
Revision: 7 

 

 
The images detail the size of the area being used for the polling station. The space is large 

enough to accommodate a polling station which is compliant with COVID-19 guidelines. The 

station has 3 entrance and exit points which can be used for one-way systems.  

  

Page 28

Appendix A



 

Page  

11 of 12 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

Date of publication – 17 February 2021 
Revision: 7 

 

Further Equality Considerations 

Disability 

The main assessment above includes consideration of issues which may affect those who 

are affected by disability.  

Carers 

There are no further considerations to be made for those who are carers. 

Race 

There are no further considerations to be made for different races. 

Sex 

There are no further considerations to be made for different sexes. 

Age 

All electors must be over the age of 18 in order to vote. The main assessment above 

includes considerations of issues that may affect older voters. 

Religion/Belief 

The proposed polling station is within a school setting and is accessible to all religions and 

beliefs, so there are no further considerations. 

Sexual Orientation 

There are no further considerations to be made for particular sexual orientations. 

Page 29

Appendix A



 

Page  

12 of 12 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix A: Polling station suitability and equalities consideration 

Date of publication – 17 February 2021 
Revision: 7 

 

Pregnancy/Maternity 

There are no baby changing facilities available within the school area. However, as electors 

are only likely to be on the school grounds for a very short period of time, this is not 

considered to be a significant issue. 

Marital or civil partnership 

There are no further considerations to be made for those who are married or in a civil 

partnership. 

Gender reassignment 

There are gender-neutral toilet facilities available. 

Armed forces community 

There are no further considerations to be made for those who are a part of the armed forces 

community.  

 

 

 

Page 30

Appendix A



 

Page  

1 of 2 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Consultation methodology 

 
 

 

Consultation methodology  
 

The proposed consultation will run for a four-week period between 20th January and 16th 

February.  

Key stakeholders and community members (as noted below) will be contacted directly with 

the proposals and invited to make a response. 

However, the proposals will be available for anyone to consider on our website, and 

information on the consultation will be circulated on social media. The Council will accept any 

consultation responses via email or in writing from any person or organisation with an interest 

in the issue. 

Suggested list of ‘specific 

consultees’. 

Registered electors in the area directly affected by the proposed change will be written to 

advising them of the proposals and consultation opportunity. These residents will be all 

registered electors in the Knightswood area, living in the following roads: 

• Admiral Walk 

• Coppice Close 

• Golding Road 

• Hedgerow Lane 

• Herald Gardens 

• High Tree Lane 

• Rosehip Lane 

• The Avenue 

• The Green 

The Chairman of the Royal Tunbridge Wells and Area Access Group will also be written to 

with the proposals and invite to respond. 

Emails will also be sent to the following organisations and individuals inviting a response to 

the proposals: 

• Local MP - Greg Clark MP 

• County Councillor Tunbridge Wells East Division – Councillor Paul Barrington-King 

Page 31

Appendix B



 

Page  

2 of 2 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Consultation methodology 

 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Consultation methodology 

Date of publication – 17 February 2021 
Revision: 5 

 

• Sherwood Borough Councillors: Councillor Bob Backhouse; Councillor Frank Williams; 

Councillor Hugo Pound. 

• Chairman of the Royal Tunbridge Wells Town Forum  

All consultation responses should be sent via email to elections@tunbridgewells.gov.uk, or in 

writing to Elections Office, Town Hall, Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN1 1RS.  

Page 32

Appendix B

mailto:elections@tunbridgewells.gov.uk


Consultation Responses to Polling Arrangements for Sherwood Ward 

 

Consultation Response Returning Officer Response 
 

25/01/21 Councillor Hugo Pound 
 
Obviously, I agree that a polling station should be set up on Skinners’ Kent 
Primary School as I initiated the proposal. 
I would also suggest that, as soon as possible, a similar analysis of the 
location of the polling station for Sherwood South be determined. A better 
location would be the VIth Form Study Centre at Skinners’ Kent Academy on 
Sandown Park. This location would provide much easier, safer access, with 
ample parking in Blackhurst Lane, for all residents at the southern end of 
Sherwood Road, Sandhurst Road, Fairmile Road, Bracken Road, Bracken 
Close and the separate areas of Blackhurst Lane, Sandown Park and 
Pembury Road. 
Then the TN2 site can be used for the ‘central belt’ of Sherwood North. St 
Philip’s Church would not be required so there will be no greater pull on 
resources or cost. 
 

Noted, thank you. 

27/01/21 Ms C 
Dear Sir / Madam 
 
As a resident of Knights Wood, I object to the school becoming a polling 
station. 
 
I don't think that the estate has adequate parking, and I think spaces will be 
mis-used. 
I also have concerns in the current situation with excess visitors into a 
school rather than the Sherwood community centre. 
 

Thank you for your consultation response. 
 
We have assessed the parking arrangements at 
the school and feel confident that there will be 
enough provision for electors on polling days.  
 
One of the reasons for establishing a new polling 
station in the area is that it will be much closer to 
voters, enabling them to walk or cycle to their 
polling station and we know from previous 

P
age 33

A
ppendix C



 experience that this is often a preferable method 
of accessing a polling station for voters. 
 
Whilst the current pandemic does place extra risk 
management requirements on all our polling 
stations, we do not anticipate this to be a 
continuing issue for future elections. 
 

27/01/21 Dr B 
Dear Sir/Madan, 
 
I write to support the proposal to site a new polling station at Knights Park as 
a local Sherwood resident and past candidate for the ward. 
The new housing estate is a long way from TN2 and it would make more 
sense to have an extra polling station for Knights Park serving that area, 
which should help boost election turnout too. 

Noted, thank you. 

27/01/21 Councillor Justine Rutland 
 
I would like to support the proposed new polling station in Sherwood. 
Anything that makes it easier for residents to participate in the electoral 
process is very welcome. 
 

Noted, thank you. 

29/01/21 Mr and Ms E 
 
We are in support of this polling station in Skinners Kent Primary School in 
Knights Wood. We have been using Greggs Wood but parking there is very 
difficult and there are lots of stairs to go up and down which is difficult for us.  
 
We think the school’s parking area on the Avenue is very suitable for voters 
to use to park safely for those who do not live in Knights Wood. 

Noted, thank you. 

29/01/21 Mrs C 
 

Noted, thank you. 

P
age 34

A
ppendix C



As a resident of the Knightswood ward, my husband and i are both very 
much in favour of a new polling station being allowed at the Skinners Kent 
Primary School. 
 

29/01/21 M & M D 
 
That is an excellent choice from our point of view 
I would just like to make our representations that my wife and myself. 
 

Noted, thank you. 

29/01/21 Councillor Frank Williams 
 
Thank you for your email. 
I have nothing to add to my comments at the General Purposes Committee 
meeting, endorsing the proposal fully. 
 
 

Noted, thank you. 

30/01/21 Ms P 
 
To whom it may concern 
I would welcome a new polling station at Skinners’ Kent Primary School. 
 
 

Noted, thank you. 

30/01/21 Mr C 
 
I think given the current situation with the school closures and covid19, and 
hopefully the reopening in March, this is a very bad time to consider any 
additional days closure for the children’s education. 
Whilst in a few years’ time this proposal may be more acceptable, right now 
it is potentially ill judged and lacks empathy to our children, and the number 
of days already missed. 
Please only move forward with this if you can guarantee the school won’t be 
closed. 

Thank you for your consultation response. 
 
We have been advised by the school that there 
would not be a need to close to accommodate 
and election.   

P
age 35

A
ppendix C



My son is in the reception class of Skinners Kent Primary School. 
 

30/01/21 Mr S and Ms B 
 
Having read the consultation documents and as a resident on the Knights 
Wood estate (Herald Gardens) I think the new polling station at Skinners 
Primary School makes perfect sense, and would reduce the burden on the 
current Sherwood polling station. 
It seems daft that the growing number of Knights Wood residents would 
have to travel on polling day to a location that is not easily accessible, and 
would no doubt cause congestion issues in the area. 
 

Noted, thank you. 

30-01-21 Mrs M 
 
We the residents of 23 Golding road, Tunbridge wells, TN2 3FN, would be 
happy to back the proposal of new polling station at Skinners Kent Primary 
School ,The Avenue,Royal Tunbridge wells,Kent TN2 3GS. 
 

Noted, thank you. 

30-01-21 Mr and Mrs A 
 
I hope this email finds you well and that you and your family are staying safe 
during these difficult times. 
I would like to respond to a letter that stated about the proposal of a new 
polling station at the Sherwood Ward at : Skinners Kent Primary School, The 
Avenue, Royal Tunbridge Wells, Kent, TN23GS. 
I think that this proposal is a great idea and that it is very accessible for all of 
the residents living in the Knightswood area. This is because, us residents 
can walk to the school to take part in elections, whereas if there is not a 
polling station at the school, we would have to go out of our living area to go 
and vote, which for some people is not good as they might not be able to 
drive, giving the only option for a bus, which would cost us money to go to 

Noted, thank you. 

P
age 36

A
ppendix C



and from the nearest polling station if there is not one established at the 
school. 
Thank you for hearing my opinion on this, and i hope to hear the outcome of 
this very soon. 
 
 

31-01-21 A & P C 
We fully support a proposal for a new polling station for the Sherwood Ward 
to be positioned at Skinner's Kent Primary School, The Avenue, Tunbridge 
Wells. 
 

Noted, thank you. 

31-01-21 Mr W 
Excellent idea to use Skinners' Kent Primary School as a polling station for 
residents of Knightswood, it means less vehicle requirement as the majority 
of voters will be able to walk. 
 

Noted, thank you. 

01.02.21 Ms R 
Yes my partner and I would agree that there should be a new polling station 
in sherwood located in Knightswood 
 

Noted, thank you. 

01/02/21 Mr C – Royal Tunbridge Wells and Area Access Group 
 

Noted, thank you. 

P
age 37

A
ppendix C



 
 
 

02.02.21 S D 
Thank you very much for your letter regarding the consultation for a new 
polling station at Skinners school TN2 3GS! 
I can confirm that I am against this proposal, as there is only one access 
road in & out of the development.I hope that this can be taken into 
consideration, please? 

Thank you for your consultation response. 
We have assessed the polling station and feel that 
the access is suitable. We do not anticipate 
polling day generating large volumes of traffic, as 
it is within easy walking and cycling distance, and 

P
age 38

A
ppendix C



 we know this can often be the preferred method of 
travel for many voters.  

04/02/21 Joanne Gamage  
 
 
To whom this may concern,I would strongly support a new polling station at 
the above location. As our nearest polling station at the moment is out of the 
way for those who commute on the A21 & never has enough parking for 
those who vote after they come home from work. Sometime it is confusing 
that two different districts also vote in the same place, at the TN2 building. 
 

Noted, thank you. 

06/02/21 Mr H 
  
Knight’s Park should have its own polling station but please don’t use the 
school. Our children’s education has been disrupted enough. 
 

Thank you for your consultation response. 
 
We have been advised by the school that they 
would not need to close to accommodate polling 
days. 

12/02/21 Mr N 
I have read the consultation documents on the above proposals  and support 
the provision of an additional Polling Station at Skinners Kent Primary 
School, especially as I note that the School itself is in agreement. This will 
avoid the current, very circuitous route to the TN2 Centre. 
 

Noted, thank you. 

13/02/21 Ms J 
I think it would be a positive move to have a polling station for the residents 
of Knightswood at Skinners’ Kent Primary rather than forcing residents to 
either get in their cars or walk through the woods to the polling station at 
Greggswood as I did at the last General Election. 
 

Noted, thank you. 

16/2/2021 Mr G 
I have received a letter asking for feedback on the proposed Knights Wood 
polling station at Skinner's Kent Primary School. 

Thank you for your consultation response. 
 

P
age 39

A
ppendix C



I am in favour of the proposal, however on polling day there would be to be 
continuous traffic and parking enforcement on The Avenue, as there is only 
one road entrance to Knights Wood for the 1600 residents. We find that 
those travelling to the primary school for events such as school fairs often 
park on the double yellows line on The Avenue opposite the school and at 
the bus stop. This has caused issues previously where emergency 
vehicles such as ambulances and fire engines have not been able to pass. 
The other alternative is not to issue polling cards for this proposed location 
to non-Knights Wood residents to avoid the need for anyone to travel by car 
to the proposed polling station. 
 

We have assessed the polling station and do not 
anticipate an issue with large volumes of traffic to 
the site.  
 
One of the reasons for establishing this polling 
station is that it is much closer to residents, 
enabling them to walk or cycle to their polling 
station. Voters are also able to access the polling 
station from 7am until 10pm, which should help to 
spread out any traffic throughout the day. 
 
The list of roads allocated to this polling station is 
available at appendix F to this report. All of the 
roads are on the Knights Wood estate. 
 
However, we note the concerns around parking 
on double yellow lines near the school and will 
monitor the issue going forwards. 
 

17/02/21 Mr S 
Appreciate this email comes a day late but Tunbridge Wells Labour Party 
would like to add its voice of support for this proposal for a polling station at 
Knights Wood. A polling station is needed to serve this community as a 
polling station located 2 miles away is unacceptable. 

Noted, thank you. 

 

P
age 40

A
ppendix C



 

Page  

1 of 1 

Tunbridge Wells Borough Council 
Appendix D: List of streets, properties, and electors 

 

 

Appendix D: List of streets, 

properties, and electors  
 

Streets Properties Electors 

Admiral Walk 20 36 

Bramling Crescent 36 (Under construction) 0 

Coppice Lane 22 7 

Elsanta Close 9 (Under construction) 0 

Golding Road 71 125 

Grove Place 31(Under construction) 0 

Hedgerow Lane 27 50 

Herald Gardens 63 86 

High Tree Lane 35 56 

Lower Mead 47 (Under construction) 0 

Monarch Gardens 29 (Under construction) 0 

Rosehip Lane 22 33 

The Avenue 232 293 

The Green 35 53 

The Rise 15 (Under construction) 0 

Total  527 739 

 

Page 41

Appendix D



This page is intentionally left blank



 

General Purposes 
Committee 

25 February 2021 

 

Urgent Business 
 

Procedural Item: 
 

To consider any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent, for the reasons to 
be stated, in accordance with Section 100B(4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 

 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



 

General Purposes 
Committee 

25 February 2021 

 

Date of Next Meeting 
 

Procedural Item: 
 

To note that the date of the next scheduled meeting is Tuesday 13 April 2021 at 6:30pm. 

 

 

Page 45

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Apologies for Absence
	2 Declarations of Interest:
	3 Notification of Visiting Members wishing to speak (in accordance with Council Procedure Rule 18):
	4 Minutes of the Meeting dated 19 January 2021
	5 New Polling Station in Sherwood Ward (Knights' Wood)
	5 Appendix A - Polling station suitability and equalities consideration
	5 Appendix B - List of consultees for consultation
	5 Appendix C - Consultation Responses
	5 Appendix D - Streets, properties and electors in the Knights Wood area

	6 Urgent Business
	7 Date of Next Meeting

